#### **Uldaho Law**

# Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-21-2018

# State v. Garnett Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45282

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature of the Case

Probation officers searched the residence of a probationer they suspected had relapsed on heroin and absconded. Mark Garnett was in the residence at the time of the search, having stayed the prior night as a guest of the probationer's boyfriend. An officer found Mr. Garnett's closed and locked backpack in a storage area, bypassed the lock by severing an attached elastic strap, opened the backpack, and discovered a handgun. Mr. Garnett was subsequently charged with being a felon in possession of a firearm and he filed a motion to suppress. The district court denied Mr. Garnett's motion, finding the probation officer had a reasonable suspicion the backpack belonged to the probationer, and that the search was therefore authorized by the probationer's Fourth Amendment waiver, or alternatively upon a reasonable suspicion that the probationer violated the terms of her probation. Mr. Garnett asserts the district court erred in denying his motion to suppress.

#### Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

The State charged Mark Garnett by information with unlawful possession of a firearm and with grand theft of a firearm, based upon a stolen gun being discovered in his closed and locked backpack. (R., pp.11-23, 29-33.) Mr. Garnett filed a motion to suppress and a brief in support, arguing in relevant part that he had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his closed and locked backpack and that the warrantless search violated his Fourth Amendment right to be free

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The district court granted the State's request to amend the grand theft of a firearm charge to grand theft by possession of a stolen firearm. (R., pp.132-134, 147-155, 165-169.) The State dismissed that charge after the jury could not reach a verdict on it, in exchange for Mr. Garnett seeking no lower than a 3-year fixed term for the felon in possession of a firearm charge for which he was convicted. (R, pp.215, 263; Tr. 6/22/17, p.59, Ls.9-16.) Mr. Garnett does not raise any issues related to the grand theft charge in this appeal.

from unreasonable searches. (R., pp.37-45.) The State filed a response asserting the backpack search was justified because it was found in Tamara Brunko's residence, Ms. Brunko was on probation at the time and had agreed to submit to searches of her residence and belongings, and Ms. Brunko's probation officer had a reasonable suspicion that she had violated the terms of her probation. (R., pp.46-59.)

During a hearing on Mr. Garnett's motion to suppress, Andrew Soy testified that probation officers searched the trailer he shared with his girlfriend, Ms. Brunko, who he knew to be on probation, without a warrant and without his permission, in November of 2016. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.6, L.6 – p.7, L.18; p.8, L.1 – p.9, L.17.)<sup>2</sup> Mr. Soy and Mr. Garnett both testified that Mr. Garnett had stayed over the previous night and was in the residence at the time of the warrantless search.<sup>3</sup> (Tr. 3/21/17, p.7, Ls.19-25; p.13, L.2 – p.14, L.6.) Mr. Garnett testified that he had suitcase and a backpack in the residence, that the backpack was closed and secured with a padlock attached to cords which were in turn attached to the zippers, and that he placed the backpack in the storage area of the trailer. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.14, L.7 – p.15, L.1; p.16, L.14 – p.17,

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In its written order denying Mr. Garnett's motion to suppress, the district court referred to the suppression hearing as having occurred on March 22, 2017. (R., pp.98-116). However, both the Court Minutes and the transcript of the hearing indicate that the suppression hearing occurred on March 21, 2017. (R., pp.74-79; Tr. 3/21/17, p.3, L.13.) Noting this discrepancy and for the sake of consistency, Mr. Garnett will cite the transcripts of the suppression hearing as "Tr. 3/21/17" in this Brief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The parties litigated whether Mr. Garnett had standing to challenge the search of the residence based upon his status as an overnight guest. (R., pp.37-59.) The district court ultimately determined that Mr. Garnett was an overnight guest and therefore had standing to challenge the search of the residence. (R., pp.104-105.) As Mr. Garnett's standing to challenge the search of his closed and locked backpack found inside the residence, is not dependent upon whether this Court determines he has standing to challenge to search of the residence, he will not address the district court's finding in this regard in this Brief. *See State v. Westlake*, 158 Idaho 817, 823 (Ct. App. 2015).

L.4.) Mr. Garnett further testified that he did not give officers permission to search his backpack. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.15, Ls.18-20.)<sup>4</sup>

Probation officer Jason Haines was assigned to supervise Ms. Brunko and he suspected she had relapsed on heroin after she failed to complete a treatment program and provided an altered urine sample. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.21, L.2 – p.24, L.25; p.26, L.24 – p.28, L.3.) Officer Haines, along with three other probation officers and two Post Falls police officers, went to Ms. Brunko and Mr. Soy's residence, a single-wide trailer, after one of Ms. Brunko's children had been absent from school for several days. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.7, L.4 – p.8, L.5; p.28, L.4 – p.30, L.9; p.34, Ls.22-25.) Officer Haines knocked on the door, Mr. Soy answered, and after verifying with Mr. Soy that Ms. Brunko still lived at the residence, the officers entered the trailer without asking permission.<sup>5</sup> (Tr. 3/21/17, p.31, L.7 – p.32, L.18.) Mr. Garnett was laying down on a chaise lounge when the officers entered. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.32, Ls.5-11.) After "clearing" the residence, and although nothing appeared amiss, officers searched for drug-related items and evidence of Ms. Brunko's whereabouts, without asking permission. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.32, L.5 – p.37, L.4.)

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> During the prosecutor's cross-examination, both Mr. Soy and Mr. Garnett testified that they did not verbally object when the officers conducted a search of the residence, and Mr. Garnett testified that he did not verbally object to Officer Haines searching his backpack. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.11, L.9 – p.12, L.7; p.17, L.17 – p.19, L.14.) Their failure to object, however, is not relevant as mere acquiescence to an assertion of lawful authority does not meet the constitutional definition of voluntary consent. *See Bumper v. North Carolina*, 391 U.S. 543, 548-49 (1968).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> During the suppression hearing, Mr. Soy testified that Officer Haines ordered him to take two steps back prior to entering the trailer, and told him to sit down. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.8, Ls.6-14.) Officer Haines and Officer Travis Johnson both testified that Mr. Soy voluntarily backed up and allowed them to enter without being ordered to. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.31, L.12 – p.32, L.18; p.49, Ls.2-13.) The district court found the officers' testimony to be credible and determined that Mr. Soy voluntarily let the officers in the residence. (R., pp.99-100.) Mr. Garnett does not challenge the district court's finding in this regard.

In a storage room that appeared to be shared by multiple people, Officer Haines found a backpack and removed it. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.37, L.16 – p.39, L.20.) The backpack was closed and had a lock attached to two cords, which were in turn were attached to the zippers. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.40, Ls.5-15.) Not seeing any identifying tags or markings on the backpack, and without asking either Mr. Soy or Mr. Garnett to whom the backpack belonged, Officer Haines searched the backpack believing he had authority to do so because he "felt that it was very likely that it could" belong to Ms. Brunko. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.39, L.21 – p.40, L.23; p.46, Ls.13-15.) Officer Haines pulled one of the cords, snapping it off of the zipper, unzipped the backpack, looked inside and found a handgun, ammunition, and a piece of mail addressed to Mr. Garnett. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.41, L.14 – p.43, L.15.)

On cross-examination, when asked, "[w]hat made you think that that backpack was Tamara Brunko's?" Officer Haines responded, "It's in her residence. It's quite possible that it could be her backpack. I didn't know for sure, but it was quite possible it was hers. It's not uncommon for women to have camouflage backpacks and clothing in northern Idaho. It's always a possibility." (Tr. 3/21/17, p.45, L.23 – p.46, L.4.) Officer Haines agreed with defense counsel's suggestions that the fact the backpack was in the residence was the only reason he thought it may have belonged to Ms. Brunko, and that he held "only the belief that it was possible it was hers" before he opened it. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.46, Ls.5-12.)

The State also submitted a copy of Ms. Brunko's 2001 judgment placing her on probation, and a 2014 supervision agreement between Ms. Brunko and the Idaho Department of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Mr. Garnett testified that the backpack either had his name or his initials on it (Tr. 3/21/17, p.17, L.23 – p.19, L.24), while Officer Haines testified that he did not see any identifying information on the backpack (Tr. 3/21/17, p.39, Ls.21-24). The district court found Officer Haines to be more credible on this issue (R., pp.100-101), and Mr. Garnett does not challenge the district court's finding that the backpack did not have any identifying information on its exterior.

Correction. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.26, Ls.9-23; p.47, Ls.3-15; Exs., pp.7-14.) At the conclusion of the hearing, the district court allowed the parties to provide additional briefing. (Tr. 3/21/17, p.53. L.7 – p.54, L.4.)

Mr. Garnett filed an addendum to his brief in support of his motion to suppress in which he argued that he had reasonable expectation of privacy in the contents of his closed and locked backpack; that the waiver provision in Ms. Brunko's 2011 judgment did not provide the officers authority to search because the probation officers did not request her consent prior to searching; and, because the State lacked a search warrant or consent from either Mr. Garnett or Mr. Soy, the search violated his Fourth Amendment rights. (R., pp.82-89.) The State responded by conceding that language in the Fourth Amendment waiver provision in the 2011 judgment placing Ms. Brunko on probation was not sufficient to justify the search, but argued that the search was nevertheless reasonable because Officer Haines had a reasonable suspicion that Ms. Brunko had violated the terms of her probation; that Mr. Soy consented to the search by

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The State presented two separate documents purporting to contain Ms. Brunko's Fourth Amendment waiver as a condition of her probation. (Exs., pp.7-14.) Mr. Garnett argued to the district court that the "at the request of" language in the 2011 judgment required probation officers to first seek consent from Ms. Brunko prior to searching her premises, and the State acknowledged this argument was meritorious. (R., pp.87-88, 91-92). Mr. Garnett's argument is supported by this Court's recent decision in State v. Jaskowski, 2018 Opinion No. 44772 (Jan. 18, 2018) (opinion not yet final). However, the 2014 supervision agreement submitted by the State and presumably considered by the district court contains a different waiver clause which states, "The defendant waives his/her Fourth Amendment Rights concerning searches." (Exs., p.13.) Because Mr. Garnett did not challenge whether the 2014 supervision agreement was operative at the time of the search, and in light of this Court's holding in State v. Gawron, 112 Idaho 841 (1987), Mr. Garnett does not challenge the authority of the officers to search the premises based upon Ms. Brunko's purported Fourth Amendment waiver. In reality, it is likely that neither of those documents were operative. Ms. Brunko violated the terms of her probation in 2016 and an Amended Judgment on Probation Violation was entered on June 14, 2016, likely containing a new probation supervision agreement and rendering the documents provided to the district court in this case null. See Register of Actions for State v. Brunko (Kootenai County district court case number CR-2011-10494) (available via Idaho Supreme Court Data Repository).

inviting the probation officers in when he stepped back from the door after verifying that Ms. Brunko still resided at the trailer; and, that Officer Haines had an objectively reasonable suspicion that the backpack belonged to Ms. Brunko. (R., pp.90-97.)

The district court entered a written order denying Mr. Garnett's motion to suppress. (R., pp.98-116.) Noting that the State did not assert otherwise, the court found that Mr. Garnett has standing to challenge the search of his backpack as he had a legitimate expectation of privacy in the contents of its interior. (R., pp.105-106.) However, the court held that the search of Mr. Garnett's backpack was reasonable because Officer Haines held an objectively "reasonable suspicion the Ms. Brunko owned, possessed, or controlled the backpack," such that her probationary agreement to waive her Fourth Amendment rights authorized the search. (R., pp.109-111.) The court held that "there was no obligation on the probation officers and/or law enforcement to ask [Mr.] Garnett for permission to search anything found within the single-wide trailer." (R., p.112.) Instead, the court found that Mr. Garnett "had the duty to inform the officers ... where they would find his backpack and that they did not have his permission to search his backpack." (R., p.113.)<sup>8</sup> Finally, the court held that, because probation officers had a reasonable suspicion that Ms. Brunko had violated the terms of her probation, they were not required to seek Ms. Brunko's consent prior to searching her residence. (R., pp.114-115.)

A jury found Mr. Garnett guilty of being a felon in possession of a firearm, and the district court sentenced him to the maximum, five-year fixed term. (R., pp.215, 265-266.) Mr. Garnett filed a timely Notice of Appeal. (R., pp.267-270.)

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> This holding was not supported by citation to any legal authority.

# <u>ISSUE</u>

Did the district court err when it denied Mr. Garnett's motion to suppress?

#### ARGUMENT

#### The District Court Erred When It Denied Mr. Garnett's Motion To Suppress

#### A. <u>Introduction</u>

The district court held the warrantless search of Mr. Garnett's backpack was constitutional based upon two separate, but related, justifications offered by the State. First, the court found the search was justified pursuant to Ms. Brunko's written consent to waive her Fourth Amendment rights as a condition of her probation. Alternatively, the court found the search was justified because Officer Haines had a reasonable suspicion that Ms. Brunko had violated the terms of her probation. The district court erred in both of these rulings.

#### B. The District Court Erred When It Denied Mr. Garnett's Motion To Suppress

The standard of review of a suppression motion is bifurcated. When a decision on a motion to suppress is challenged, the appellate court accepts the trial court's findings of fact, which were supported by substantial evidence, but freely reviews the application of constitutional principles to the facts as found. *State v. Atkinson*, 128 Idaho 559, 561 (Ct. App. 1996).

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees citizens the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. CONST. amend. IV. Its purpose is "to impose a standard of 'reasonableness' upon the exercise of discretion by government officials, including law enforcement agents, in order to 'safeguard the privacy and security of individuals against arbitrary invasions." *Delaware v. Prouse*, 440 U.S. 648, 653-54 (1979) (quoting *Marshall v. Barlow's, Inc.*, 436 U.S. 307, 312 (1978)). If evidence is not seized either pursuant to a valid warrant or pursuant to a recognized exception to the warrant requirement, the evidence

discovered as a result of the illegal search or seizure must be excluded as the "fruit of the poisonous tree." *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471 (1963).

1. The Search Was Not Justified By Ms. Brunko's Fourth Amendment Waiver
Because Officer Haines Did Not Have An Objectively Reasonable Belief
Ms. Brunko Had The Authority To Consent To A Search Of Mr. Garnett's
Backpack

Mr. Garnett does not challenge the officers' authority to search Mr. Soy and Ms. Brunko's residence based upon Ms. Brunko's purported Fourth Amendment waiver. (*See* Exs., pp.10, 13.) However, Ms. Brunko's Fourth Amendment waiver did not provide authority for the officers to search Mr. Garnett's backpack.

A warrantless search is valid under the Fourth Amendment if it was conducted pursuant to voluntary consent of a person having the authority to consent. *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 US. 218 (1973). "[T]he consent of one who possesses common authority over premises or effects is valid against the absent, nonconsenting person with whom that authority is shared." *United States v. Matlock*, 415 U.S. 164, 170 (1974). Alternatively, a warrantless search conducted pursuant to consent granted by a person who does actually have authority to consent, may nevertheless be reasonable if the State proves the officer had an objectively reasonable belief that the consenting person had the authority to consent. *Illinois v. Rodriguez*, 497 U.S. 177 (1990). "Like homes, personal effects are expressly protected from unreasonable search and seizure by the Fourth Amendment, and an individual's expectation of privacy in an effect is not automatically forfeited whenever that item is temporarily located within an area over which a third party has authority." *State v. Westlake*, 158 Idaho 817, 823 (Ct. App. 2015).

It is undisputed that Ms. Brunko did not actually have individual or common authority over Mr. Garnett's backpack. Thus, in order to justify the search based upon Ms. Brunko's

Fourth Amendment waiver, the State was required to prove Ms. Brunko had apparent authority over the backpack; that is, the State had to show Officer Haines had an objectively reasonable belief that Ms. Brunko did have common authority over the backpack. The State failed to meet this standard and the district court erred in denying Mr. Garnett's motion to suppress on this basis.

#### a. <u>The District Court Applied An Erroneous "Reasonable Suspicion"</u> <u>Standard For Determining Apparent Authority</u>

The district court applied an erroneous standard for determining apparent authority. Relying, in part, upon the Idaho Supreme Court's decision in *State v. Barker*, 136 Idaho 728, 731-32 (2002), the district court applied a "reasonable suspicion" test to Officer Haines' actions. (R., pp.109-111.) Specifically, the court stated "officers could search any item in the storage room if they had reasonable suspicion that Brunko owned, possessed or controlled the item," and the court found the State met this standard in regard to the backpack. (R., pp.111.) The reasonable suspicion standard adopted by the *Barker* Court, however, is inconsistent with the standards governing apparent authority established by the United States Supreme Court. Rather than a mere "reasonable suspicion," the Supreme Court requires a "reasonable belief" that the person consenting to a search had authority over the premises or effect searched.

The United States Supreme Court first recognized that a search is reasonable if conducted based upon consent given by a person whom officers reasonably, but erroneously, believe had the authority to consent, in *Rodriguez*. After discussing its precedent analyzing the "reasonableness" requirement of the Fourth Amendment, the *Rodriguez* Court held,

We see no reason to depart from this general rule with respect to facts bearing upon the authority to consent to a search. Whether the basis for such authority exists is the sort of recurring factual question to which law enforcement officials must be expected to apply their judgment; and all the Fourth Amendment requires

is that they answer it reasonably. The Constitution is no more violated when officers enter without a warrant because they *reasonably* (though erroneously) *believe* that the person who has consented to their entry is a resident of the premises, than it is violated when they enter without a warrant because they *reasonably* (though erroneously) *believe* they are in pursuit of a violent felon who is about to escape.

Rodriguez, 497 U.S. at 183-86 (emphasis added). The Court went on to state,

what we hold today does not suggest that law enforcement officers may always accept a person's invitation to enter premises. Even when the invitation is accompanied by an explicit assertion that the person lives there, the surrounding circumstances could conceivably be such that a reasonable person would doubt its truth and not act upon it without further inquiry. As with other factual determinations bearing upon search and seizure, determination of consent to enter must "be judged against an objective standard: would the facts available to the officer at the moment ... 'warrant a man of *reasonable caution* in the belief' " *that the consenting party had authority over the premises? Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 21–22, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 1880, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968). If not, then warrantless entry without further inquiry is unlawful unless authority actually exists. But if so, the search is valid.

Id. at 188-89 (emphasis added). The Supreme Court has also recognized that, "[t]he standard for measuring the scope of a suspect's consent under the Fourth Amendment is that of 'objective' reasonableness — what would the typical reasonable person have understood by the exchange between the officer and the suspect?" Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 251 (1991) (citing Rodriguez, 497 U.S. at 183-89) (further citations omitted). In Georgia v. Randolph, 547 U.S. 103 (2006), the Court again applied the "reasonable belief" standard: "The Fourth Amendment recognizes a valid warrantless entry and search of premises when police obtain the voluntary consent of an occupant who shares, or is reasonably believed to share, authority over the area in common with a co-occupant who later objects to the use of evidence so obtained." Id. at 106 (citing Rodriguez; Matlock.) In short, the United States Supreme Court has made it abundantly clear that in order to justify a search based upon apparent authority to consent to

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