#### **Uldaho Law**

### Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-29-2018

## State v. Garnett Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45282

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

#### ARGUMENT

Garnett Has Failed To Show That The District Court Erred By Denying His Motion To
Suppress Evidence Obtained From Officer Haines' Search Of The Backpack

#### A. Introduction

Garnett contends that the district court erred by denying his motion to suppress evidence obtained from Officer Haines' search of his backpack. (Appellant's brief, pp.8-18.) Specifically, Garnett contends that the officers' authority to search Brunko's residence pursuant to the terms of her probation agreement did not extend to the backpack recovered from a storage room in the trailer, and that <u>State v. Barker</u>, 136 Idaho 728, 40 P.3d 86 (2001), the authority relied upon by the district court, is inconsistent with applicable United States Supreme Court precedent. (Id.) This Court should decline to consider this issue because Garnett has failed to preserve it for appeal. In any event, Garnett's contention fails because a review of the totality of the circumstances reveals that Officer Haines had reasonable suspicion that Brunko owned, possessed, or controlled the backpack. Therefore, the search was lawful pursuant to <u>Barker</u>, and Garnett has failed to demonstrate that the district court erred.

#### B. Standard Of Review

In reviewing an order granting or denying a motion to suppress evidence, the appellate court applies a bifurcated standard of review. State v. Purdum, 147 Idaho 206, 207, 207 P.3d 182, 183 (2009) (citing State v. Watts, 142 Idaho 230, 232, 127 P.3d 133, 135 (2005)). The appellate court defers to the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous; however, the appellate court freely reviews the determination as to whether constitutional requirements have been satisfied in light of the facts found. State

v. Hansen, 151 Idaho 342, 345, 256 P.3d 750, 753 (2011) (citing State v. Smith, 144
Idaho 482, 485, 163 P.3d 1194, 1197 (2007)).

#### C. Garnett Failed To Preserve The Ground For Suppression He Raises On Appeal

It is a fundamental tenet of appellate law that a proper and timely objection must be made in the trial court before an issue is preserved for appeal. State v. Vondenkamp, 141 Idaho 878, 885, 119 P.3d 653, 660 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing State v. Carlson, 134 Idaho 389, 398, 3 P.3d 67, 76 (Ct. App. 2000)). Further, when a defendant pursues a suppression motion, only the specific grounds raised in the district court are preserved for appeal. See e.g., State v. Anderson, 154 Idaho 703, 705-706, 302 P.3d 328, 330-331 (2012) (holding that the defendant preserved only two of the three grounds for suppression that he attempted to raise on appeal).

In this case, Garnett argues that <u>Barker</u> was wrongly decided and that the district court erred by applying the standard set forth in that case to analyze whether the lawful scope of the officers' consent search of Brunko's residence included the backpack recovered from the storage room. (Appellant's brief, pp.8-19.) Garnett did not raise this argument below. Instead, Garnett argued only that: (1) Garnett had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the backpack; and (2) Brunko's probation agreement did not constitute valid consent to search the residence in the first place. (R., pp.40-45, 82-89.) Despite the state's reliance on <u>Barker</u> and related cases in its briefs filed in the district court (R., pp.54-57, 95-97), Garnett did not argue that <u>Barker</u> was wrongly decided or inapplicable in this case, or that some other standard informed a proper analysis of the scope of a consent search. (See id.) The district court therefore did not have the

opportunity to rule on the argument Garnett now raises on appeal. This argument is therefore waived, and should not be considered by this Court.

## D. <u>In The Alternative, The District Court Correctly Determined That Brunko's Consent Justified Officer Haines' Search Of Garnett's Backpack</u>

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits unreasonable searches.<sup>2</sup> Warrantless searches are unconstitutional, unless they are authorized by a recognized exception to the warrant requirement. <u>Barker</u>, 136 Idaho at 730, 40 P.3d at 88 (citing State v. Johnson, 110 Idaho 516, 716 P.2d 1288 (1986)).

Properly given consent is a recognized exception to the warrant requirement. <u>Id.</u>
"When the state seeks to justify a warrantless search based upon consent, it is not limited to proof that the consent was given by the defendant." <u>Id.</u> The state may show that consent came from a third party who "possessed common authority over or other sufficient relationship to the premises or effects sought to be inspected." <u>Id.</u> at 730-31, 40 P.3d at 88-89 (citing <u>United States v. Matlock</u>, 415 U.S. 164 (1974)). "The common authority of the third party does not rest upon the law of property." <u>Id</u>. The state is not required to show the third party actually had a property interest in the effects searched. <u>Id</u>. "Rather, the common authority rests upon the joint access or control of the property searched." <u>Id</u>. The standard for measuring the scope of a consent to search is that of objective reasonableness. <u>Florida v. Jimeno</u>, 500 U.S. 248 (1991).

In <u>Barker</u>, the Idaho Supreme Court analyzed the lawful scope of a warrantless search justified by a parolee's waiver of his Fourth Amendment rights. <u>Barker</u>, 136

7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Garnett did not argue, to the district court or on appeal, that the Idaho Constitution provides more protection than the Fourth Amendment with respect to the relevant issues in this case. (See R., pp.40-45; Appellant's brief, pp.8-18.)

Idaho at 730-732, 40 P.3d at 88-90. Tate, Barker's boyfriend, violated his parole by failing to report to his parole officer. <u>Id.</u> at 729, 40 P.3d at 87. The parole officer went to Barker's apartment after learning that Tate had been seen there. <u>Id.</u> at 729-730, 40 P.3d at 87-88. The officer located Tate outside of the apartment and arrested him. <u>Id.</u> at 730, 40 P.3d at 88. Tate told the officer that he had been living at Barker's apartment for the previous few weeks. <u>Id.</u>

Officers then contacted Barker at the apartment. <u>Id.</u> Despite Barker's denials that Tate had been living there, the officers searched the apartment pursuant to Tate's Fourth Amendment waiver. <u>Id.</u> The officers also located a fanny pack on a counter in the master bedroom. <u>Id.</u> A drug dog alerted on the fanny pack. <u>Id.</u> After Barker then admitted ownership of the fanny pack, officers searched it and located methamphetamine and a vehicle title with both Tate's and Barker's names on it. <u>Id.</u> The state charged Barker with possession of methamphetamine. <u>Id.</u>

The Idaho Supreme Court affirmed the district court's denial of Barker's motion to suppress evidence recovered from the fanny pack. <u>Id.</u> at 730-732, 40 P.3d at 88-90. The Court first held that Tate's parole agreement constituted valid consent to search Tate's and Barker's residence, including the master bedroom which was occupied by both Tate and Barker. <u>Id.</u> at 731, 40 P.3d at 89.

The Court then held that the scope of this search extended to the fanny pack. <u>Id.</u> at 731-732, 40 P.3d at 89-90. The Court concluded that the officers could lawfully search any item in the shared bedroom if they possessed reasonable suspicion that Tate owned, possessed, or controlled the item. <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>United States v. Davis</u>, 932 F.2d 752 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1991).) The Court further recognized that the "circumstances need not indicate that

the item was obviously and undeniably owned, possessed, or controlled by Tate," and that the officers were not required to inquire into the ownership, possession, or control of the fanny pack. Id. at 732, 40 P.3d at 90. Finally, after reviewing the totality of the circumstances of the case (including that: (1) a drug dog alerted on the fanny pack; (2) Tate was on parole for possession of a controlled substance; (3) before absconding from supervision, Tate submitted a urine sample to his parole officer that tested positive for a controlled substance; (4) the fanny pack was located in the bedroom that was occupied jointly by Tate and Barker; and (5) there was nothing about the fanny pack's location or appearance that indicated it was owned, possessed, and controlled exclusively by Barker), the Idaho Supreme Court concluded that the officer had reasonable suspicion that Tate had at least joint possession or control of the fanny pack, and that the search was therefore lawful under the Fourth Amendment. Id.

In the present case, Garnett does not dispute any of the factual findings of the district court (see generally Appellant's brief), and concedes that the officers had the authority, pursuant to Brunko's Fourth Amendment waiver, to search the residence (Appellant's brief, p.9). Instead, Garnett contends that Officer Haines' search of the

backpack exceeded the lawful scope of this search.<sup>3</sup> (Appellant's brief, pp.8-18.) A review of the record reveals that the district court properly applied <u>Barker</u> and concluded that Officer Haines possessed reasonable suspicion that Garnett had at least joint possession or control of the backpack.

First, and perhaps most significantly, Officer Haines located the backpack not near Garnett or the sofa that Garnett was lying on, but in a storage room behind a large moving box. (R., p.100; 3/21/17 Tr., p.39, Ls.9-18.) This storage room contained numerous household items including clothes, paperwork, and sink faucets. (3/21/17 Tr., p.38, L.9 – p.39, L.5.) Thus, it was apparent that the room was not utilized exclusively for guest belongings, but was likely accessed and controlled by the permanent residents of the household. Officer Garnett thus possessed reasonable suspicion that Brunko, as one of the two known permanent residents of the trailer, had at least joint possession or control of the backpack found in storage room containing domestic household items. This is particularly true in light of the backpack's positioning *behind* a large moving box – not an area where one would expect to find the luggage of an overnight guest.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> On appeal, Garnett also construes the district court's order denying his motion to suppress as concluding that the search of the backpack was additionally justified by Officer Haines' reasonable suspicion that Brunko was in violation of her probation. (Appellant's brief, pp.8, 15-18.) However, the district court arrived at this conclusion only in response to Garnett's argument that the officers were required, pursuant to <u>State v. Turek</u>, 150 Idaho 745, 250 P.3d 796 (Ct. App. 2001), to obtain Brunko's consent to enter and search her apartment (R., pp.114-115). The district court rejected Garnett's argument on the grounds that: (1) probation searches may be conducted without consent when the officers are investigating their reasonable suspicion of violation of probation terms; and (2) the officers possessed such reasonable suspicion in this case. (R., pp.114-115 (citing <u>Turek</u>, 150 Idaho 745, 250 P.3d 796; <u>State v. Pinson</u>, 104 Idaho 227, 657 P.2d 1095 (Ct. App. 1983).) Because Garnett does not dispute this conclusion on appeal, and because he concedes that the officers had lawful authority to search Brunko's residence (Appellant's brief, p.9), the state does not otherwise address the district court's analysis with respect to this point in its Respondent's brief.

Further, despite Officer Haines' specific attempts to locate such, there was no physical indications, such as a name tag or other identifying characteristic on the exterior of the backpack indicating that the backpack was owned, possessed, or exclusively controlled by some individual other than Brunko. (R., p.100; 3/21/17 Tr., p.39, L.21 – p.40, L.4.) Also, Officer Haines testified at the suppression hearing that, from his experience, it is not uncommon for individuals such as Brunko who are on probation or parole to place items in locked containers in an attempt to dissuade probation searches. (3/21/17 Tr., p.37, Ls.5-15; p.41, Ls.2-13.) Therefore, it was reasonable for Officer Haines to suspect that the backpack was simply one of many other household items in the storage room controlled, at least in part, by Brunko.

Additionally, Garnett did not object to the search of the residence, or of the backpack specifically. (R., p.100; 3/21/17 Tr., p.17, L.17 – p.19, L.14.) Nor did Garnett inform the officers that there were specific items that exclusively belonged to him in the residence. (3/21/17 Tr., p.52, Ls.17-20.) While not determinative, an active objection is important to the reasonableness of the officer's belief in the apparent authority that justifies a search. See State v. Benson, 133 Idaho 152, 159, 983 P.2d 225, 232 (Ct. App. 1999); State v. Frizzel, 132 Idaho 522, 975 P.2d 1187 (Ct. App. 1999). An officer may not be able to rely upon a third party's apparent authority to a search when another party with a superior possessory interest in the property is present and objects or denies consent. Benson, 133 Idaho at 159, 983 P.2d at 232. "When an individual who has a possessory interest in an item remains silent while a third party with apparent authority gives consent to search an item, it is objectively reasonable for a police officer to

conclude that he 'had all the consent that was constitutionally required.'" <u>Id</u>. (citing <u>Frizzel</u>, 132 Idaho at 525, 975 P.2d at 1190.)

On appeal, Garnett contends that the district court applied an erroneous standard in determining whether the backpack was within the lawful scope of Officer Haines' search of the residence. (Appellant's brief, pp.10-13.) Specifically, Garnett argues that the standard set forth in Barker, which permits officers performing a lawful consent search of an area to search the contents of any container in that area if they possess reasonable suspicion that the individual whose consent the search is based upon owned, possessed, or controlled the item, is contrary to United States Supreme Court precedent as set forth in Illinois v. Rodriguez, 497 U.S. 177 (1990). (Id.) However, a review of the applicable caselaw reveals that Garnett's contention fails, and the district court properly relied upon Barker in denying Garnett's motion to suppress. Further, Idaho jurisprudence requires respect for its precedents. The rule of stare decisis dictates that controlling precedent be followed "unless it is manifestly wrong, unless it has proven over time to be unjust or unwise, or unless overruling it is necessary to vindicate plain, obvious principles of law and remedy continued injustice." State v. Dana, 137 Idaho 6, 9, 43 P.3d 765, 768 (2002). Garnett has failed to show either that Rodriguez is applicable to this case, or that Barker should be overruled.

In <u>Rodriguez</u>, officers gained warrantless entry to a suspect's apartment after obtaining consent from a third party who described the residence as "our" apartment, and who told police that she had clothes and furniture there. <u>Rodriguez</u>, 497 U.S. at 179. Officers arrested Rodriguez at the apartment and recovered drugs and drug paraphernalia in plain view. <u>Id.</u> at 180. The United States Supreme Court held that a warrantless entry

into a residence is valid when based upon the consent of a third party whom the police, *at the time of entry*, "reasonably believed" to possess common authority over the premises, regardless of whether the third party actually possessed such authority. <u>Id.</u> at 179-189. In other words, the Court held that an officer's consent-based *initial entry into a residence* must be based upon a "reasonable belief" that the individual granting the consent actually had sufficient authority over the residence to provide such consent. <u>Id.</u>

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